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Some news to read while we are staying home...

Our country is going through a challenging time in our nation’s history. Since we
are staying home, the Avon Historical Society thought it might be a good time to report
on several decisions made and share with you some news to help you pass the time.

Please note:

e The Board of Trustees of the Avon Historical Society has elected to suspend
the Annual Meeting scheduled for April 29, 2020. The Annual Report 2019-
2020, normally distributed at that event, is contained in this newsletter for
your review.

e Elections are also suspended. Therefore, all Trustees will continue their terms
for one more year.

e All events and exhibits are postponed until such time as the country has
returned to normal.

e It is expected that DEEDS NOT WORDS events, and other presentations co-
sponsored with the Avon Free Public Library and Avon Senior Center, will
resume on an abbreviated schedule later this year. Notification will be sent via
email and in the local media.

e TABLESCAPES 2020 was canceled. TABLESCAPES 2021 will be held March 19
& 20, 2021 at the North House Belle Ballroom. All tickets sold and
sponsorships received in 2020 will be honored in 2021.

e The opening season for the 1865 Pine Grove Schoolhouse is still scheduled for
Sunday, June 7 at 2:00pm, along with the dedication of the National Register
sign. However, that is subject to change as the situation progresses.

e The Avon Historical Society and the Avon Town Historian have begun to
record current events relating to the virus outbreak through photos, emails,
newspaper articles and personal stories for future researchers to understand
this time in our history. If you would like to share anything special, please
email it to: info@avonhistoricalsociety.org or mail it to the Society at P.O. Box
448, Avon.

Wishing you all a safe and healthy year ahead!


mailto:info@avonhistoricalsociety.org

ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020
Prepared to present at the 46 annual meeting, April 2020

AVON HISTORICAL SOCIETY MISSION: to identify, collect, preserve, utilize,
publish, display, and promote the history and heritage of Avon.
(Approved by the AHS Board, Jan. 10, 2001)

The Society was incorporated in 1974 by a group of forward thinking individuals
who wanted to make sure the history of Avon was not forgotten
during the celebration of our nation’s Bicentennial in 1976.
This report will show that we have that same spirit with us today.

NOTE: FOR SUMMER 2020 — THE 1865 PINE GROVE SCHOOL HOUSE WILL BE OPEN TO THE
PUBLIC ON SUNDAYS FROM 2:00 — 4:00 PM, JUNE — SEPTEMBER
(The Derrin Farm House and Schoolhouse No. 3 are closed until further notice)

School House No. 3 (SH3) — built 1823, relocated 1985 (formerly called Living Museum) —
As the Society’s “headquarters” it maintains and stores the archival collection of the Society. In 2012 the
Trustees voted to close the building as a museum due to lack of annual visitors and need for structural
upgrades.The Society and the Town of Avon have begun a plan of adaptive reuse of the structure for its 200"
birthday in 2023 with the goal of opening it as a modern museum, keeping the footprint and exterior as a one
room schoolhouse. As of this writing, the Town and Society have committed a combined $50,000 to this
project and has raised an additional $20,000 through grants and donations. The first step will be renovation of
the cellar and exterior siding and windows. The interior will be in future years. This is the oldest building
owned by the Town of Avon, but not in its original location. It is on the State Register of Historic Places.

1865 Pine Grove School House (PGSH) — At 155 years old, this school house is interpreted as the
turn of the 20" century. The summer of 2019 saw more visitors than in recent years — over 20 visitors on a
Sunday in June! For the 2" summer the Society provided a scavenger hunt created for use by visitors to find
various historic items in the house. It was very successful. This is the oldest building owned by the Town of
Avon still in its original location and is on the State and National Registers of Historic Places.

Derrin Farm House (c. 1740 - 1810) (DFH) — On Wednesday, May 11, 2016, an accidental fire
destroyed three of the oldest rooms in the house — 2 downstairs and one upstairs. The Avon VFD, along with
mutual aid from three other towns, were quick to respond and were able to put out the fire. The fire
happened just one month before a celebration marking the 250" year since the Derrin Family acquired the
property. The Board of Trustees, with insurance proceeds, had the house remediated and repaired by
November 2016. Over the a long weekend in October 2019, volunteers Gene Macy and John McLaughlin
replaced the gutters on the front of the house and installed a newly purchased rain barrel. The rain barrel will
be used by Society members Leslie and John Mancini who will replanted the raised garden beds outside the
house for the summer of 2020. As of this writing, a plan is in the early stages of discussion to reopen it as a
community space in partnership with another organization. The Derrin Farm House is on the State Register of
Historic Places.

Horse Guard Barn (c. 1870) (HGB) — Now in the 10™ year of a lease from the State Department of
the Military, the Society had the roof replaced in early April 2015 and fixed the back wall which was damaged
when the winter storms collapsed the attached annex built in 1954. This has closed the “envelope” of the
building making it dry and sound. No plan has been made to open it to the public at this time. The HGB on
the State Register of Historic Places.

Marian Hunter History Room (HHR) — The Hunter History Room at the Avon Free Public Library
provides a much-needed and well-used service for those interested in genealogy, historic houses, viewing of
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old maps, the general history of the town, its citizens and businesses past and present. Following the
instructions of a detailed report by a professional archivist in 2016, much work has been done to create a
working space for researchers inside the room. In addition, volunteers have successfully scanned and digitized
several important photographic collections of Avon’s past and uploaded them to the CT Digital Archive website
for public use. Outside the HHR is the HISTORY CORNER consisting of space available for the Society, or
other organizations, to mount history-themed exhibits. The Society maintains the calendar of each two-month
exhibit and has developed guidelines, with the Library, for use of this large space. Organizations interested in
mounting a history-themed exhibit of their organization, can request the space from the Society.
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SOCIETY ACTIVITIES SINCE THE LAST ANNUAL MEETING IN APRIL 2019:
The Society continues to have a representative attend the monthly meetings of the Historic Sites of the
Farmington Valley, a regional organization of historic sites to share best practices and events happening
as well as provide an annual bus spring tour of historic sites and a history-based lecture every fall.
The Board of Trustees welcomed three new members this past year — Carol Bradovchak, Heddy Panik
and Brian Malone.
The Society has been a continual monthly contributor to 7TODAY Magazine since it's inception in 2018.
Articles on local Avon history are written by Society members. A calendar of topics through 2020 has
been decided. For article ideas by Society members who wish to author them, are asked to contact this
project’s coordinator, Norm Sondheimer.
The 15 pop up banners entitled “"A Moment in Avon’s History,” with specific themed topics, have
continued to be on tour of lobbies around town, thanks to the efforts of longtime Society member,
Norm Sondheimer. In 2017 the Society partnered with the Avon Free Public Library and received a grant
from CT Humanities to create the banners. These banners are available for use, free of charge on an
ongoing basis, by contacting the Society directly.

Following this idea, and using proceeds from Tablescapes 2019, the Society designed and paid for 12
pole banners, with a picture of an historic property on each, to be displayed along Route 10, Simsbury
Road, for walkers and bikers to learn a bit of local history as the go by. They will be on display from
April through November every year.
The Avon Historical Society again donated $500 to Avon Dollars for Scholars to go to an Avon High
School student studying history at college. The donation is made in the name of William Yandow.
The Society was graciously recognized by the Avon Congregational Church and West Avon
Congregational Church for its small participation in the creation of their book, A 7ale of Two
Meetinghouses and their Communities, 1746-2019, published Fall 2019 on the history of the two
churches on their respective bicentennials. Copies may be purchased by contacting either church office.
Authors are Society members Nora Howard, Marj Bender and Jeannie Parker.

Society member Dick Rulon, who is also the superintendent of the West Avon Cemetery since 2010,
raised the funds needed to have the Rev. Rufus Hawley gravestone replaced with an exact duplicate.
The original 1817 stone will be housed by the Society for future display.

Trustee Carolyn McGrattan continues to increase the presence on Facebook of the Society by boosting
some of the events and keeping it up-to-date with notices.

The families of Anthony O’Neill and Carl Candels have been very generous in continually donating items
from their father’s extensive collections of ephemera and artifacts. The Society and Library’s Local
History Room will be the final place for the items. The family of Anthony O’Neill has also donated funds
for the collection care as well as renovations to Schoolhouse No. 3.

As has happened in the past, The Avon Free Public Library, the Avon Historical Society and Avon Senior
Center, applied for and won a grant from CT Humanities to run the first phase of a year long series of
events, exhibits, book talks, first person portrayals, etc. entitled "DEEDS NOT WORDS: 100 Years of the
Vote for Women.” Events began in November 2019 and will continue through October 2020. A second
grant from CT Humanities was applied for on April 3, 2020 for the second phase of the series.
Response has been overwhelming from a variety of audiences as events run day, night and weekends.
The news late Fall 2019 of the archeological dig at the Old Farms Road bridge construction early in 2019
was announced as the oldest known human contact sight in New England. The Brian D. Jones Paleo
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Indian site has been dated to be from 12,500 years ago, or 10,000BC. An important public presentation
was given in Feb. 2020 by Archeological & Historical Services, Inc., which is under contract by the CT
DOT to do the excavation and now the analysis, expected to take 5-7 years to complete. The event was
held at the Avon Senior Center with 378 attendees! It was an overwhelming response and interest in
this discovery. The Society, Library and Senior Center is planning a series of events in 2020-2021 to
compliment what was presented as well as provide greater detail on archeology in the Valley.

A 3 annual TABLESCAPES fundraiser was rescheduled to March 19 & 20, 2021.

Since 2000, the Society posts event flyers in the locked display case at the Avon Post Office, courtesy of

the family of Anthony O'Neill, owners of the building.

% The Society won a grant of $1,100 by the William G. Pomeroy Foundation, Syracuse, NY for a 18" x 32"
roadside marker that is brown, with white highlighted lettering and border, on a 7’ aluminum pole to be
placed in Avon’s only National Register District located in West Avon. It is named “Pine Grove Historic
District” and was designated by the National Park Service in 1980. The official dedication of the new
sign will be on Sunday, June 7, 2020 at 2pm when the schoolhouse opens for the summer visitor
season. A similar sign, won by a grant, has been placed at the Avon Congregational Church, the only
single standing National Register designation in Avon.

7 7
L XA X4

Uncertain Times in Avon
By Nora O. Howard, Avon Town Historian, March 29, 2020

As daily life in Avon adjusts during the Covid-19 pandemic of 2020, I turned to the Avon journal of
Rev. Rufus Hawley that he kept from the 1760s to the 1820s. Did he write about anything remotely
similar to what we are experiencing today, regarding health and community? The people of Avon, he
documented, have been in places like this - not exactly the same of course - but in places of fearful
illness, devastating injury, sudden disruption, and grinding uncertainty.

In 1783, Avon people confronted a triple threat of smallpox, diphtheria, and scarlet fever. To help
prevent smallpox, Dr. Eli Todd of Farmington set up a smallpox inoculation hospital that operated
from 1792-1794. It was located at the secluded Farmington farm of Josiah Kilbourn, Jr., the site of
today’s legendary Hospital Rock with carved initials of patients. After being inoculated at the farm,
people were isolated there for a few weeks until they were no longer infectious.

Avon had similar places where people were quarantined too. In 1800, Orestes Hawley, 21, the
minister’s son, was in quarantine (probably for up to 3 weeks). He had been inoculated for smallpox
and was staying at the home of Thomas and Hannah Ford. When Orestes recovered and was ready
to leave the Ford'’s ‘pest house,” his father, Rev. Rufus, brought him new clothes to replace the old
ones that were probably burned.

In 1798, dysentery raged through Avon. Rev. Hawley’s son Zerah, 17, recovered, but other families
lost one or more children. In September, Rev. Rufus lost two young grandsons, the brothers Imri and
Ruggles. Their infant brother had died the year before shortly after he was born.

In the summer of 1808, scarlet fever slammed into Avon, and it must have seemed as though the
world had turned upside down. On one single day, June 6, Rev. Hawley visited and prayed with 20
sick people. On Sunday, June 12, after praying with the sick almost daily, he attended the funeral of
a young mother, Buelah Woodford. (Her baby son, Wilford Woodruff, would become president of the
Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints.)



Two weeks later Rev. Hawley participated in a Farmington “Society fast, on account of the Sore
Sickness.” On July 4, he prayed with the ailing Rev. Noah Porter of Farmington (who called the
disease spotted fever) and with other “feeble people.” Dr. Noah Porter Jr., son of Rev. Porter, wrote
how Dr. Solomon Everest of Avon and Dr. Eli Todd did all they could in the panic, and that the
healthy could barely take care of all the sick. The roads were empty and fearful travelers stayed
away. The church bell in Farmington fell silent, for the sound of it ringing once at every funeral had
been unbearable. The epidemic lasted one year, striking about seven hundred people in Farmington,
many of them women and young children.

Rev. Hawley wrote to his son Timothy in Ohio about this on December 6, 1808. Half of Avon'’s
population of about 1,100 people had been sick. During only one month in Avon, 9 people had died,
the equivalent of a loss of almost 1% of the population. A 1% loss in a month in Avon today (in
2020) would mean over 180 people.

Avon men and women have been called on again and again to do their best for the sick and injured.
In 1905, there was an explosion and fire at the Climax Fuse Company in Avon, causing 15 fatalities.
In 1918, nine freight cars from a train crashed in a massive pileup just south of Avon center. During
World War I, the Spanish flu caused 8,500 deaths in Connecticut. In October 1918, the Farmington
Valley Herald reported that there were 100 cases of the Spanish flu in Avon, with Albert Thompson
being one of those ill with the deadly disease. In 1944, two Liberator airplanes collided over Talcott
Mountain and crashed near Avon Center. Hurricanes and floods battered Avon in 1938 and in 1955. A
truck crashed into 20 cars and a bus at the base of Avon Mountain in 2005 causing 4 deaths.

I close with the story of Rev. Hawley tending to a boy in Avon. It is the most detailed description of
any event in the 50-year span of his journals. In this story - as in hundreds of other stories over the
decades and now in 2020, people in the Avon community came together to support and care for one
another.

Monday, December 3, 1781, was a clear day with temperatures warm enough for children to be
outdoors, warm enough to melt that morning’s fresh snow. There were four sons at the farmhouse of
Ensign William and Catherine Ford: William, 9, Giles, 8, Truman, 6, Judah, almost 4, and Chancy, 16
months old.

Just after sunset, Truman fell into a well that his father had been digging. Rev. Hawley wrote that
Truman “broke his thigh, & fractur’d his Skull very much.” A desperate call went out in the dark for
the pastor. “Being sent for, I went & pray’d with him.” During that long night, Rufus stayed nearby.
Truman “had his Thigh Set between Midnight and Day, which I assisted in doing.” A few hours later,
on Tuesday, the surgeon cut a hole into Truman’s skull with a small saw. “His Head was trepan’d
about Noon and fourteen or 15 Pecies of bone of the Skull Bone taken out.”

On Wednesday, during a snowstorm, Rufus was home “quite ill” with a cold, but on Friday, four days
after the accident, he returned to the house and “assisted about dressing Truman Ford’s wounds.
The Helm of the Brain is broke, near a tea Spoon-full of his Brains came out.”

With neither time nor fortitude to write a new sermon, Rev. Hawley preached an old one that
Sunday. The Fords may have blamed themselves for the accident, for their pastor preached



extemporaneously that afternoon about the blameless and upright man Job who also had lost family
members. He went back to the house seven times during the next two weeks to help Truman. During
these long hours, he “pray’d with Truman Ford,” “assisted about dressing Truman’s Head,” “assisted
in dressing Truman’s Head & Thigh a.m.,” and “help’d dress Truman’s head....” On December 24, just
before the boy died, he “help’d dress Truman” for the last time.

On Christmas day 1781, three weeks after the accident, Rufus “attended the funeral of Truman Ford”
and “pray’d on the Occation.” His grief is palpable in the topic of his sermon on the following Sunday
morning. He preached from the Book of Acts 20:9 about a young man raised from the dead.
Completely worn out that Sunday afternoon in church, he again preached an old sermon.

We are all doing things now in 2020 we never imagined. Our worlds, also, have been turned upside
down.

Photograph of Hospital Rock in Farmington, by Keith Wilkins, on Wikipedia

Nora Howard'’s book Catchd on Fire, The Journals of Rufus Hawley, Avon, CT is available from the Society’s
gift shop at: http://www.avonhistoricalsociety.org/html/gift/gift-shop.html



http://www.avonhistoricalsociety.org/html/gift/gift-shop.html

Rev. Rufus Hawley gravestone replica completed!

As was previously reported in the Fall 2019 newsletter, a replica of the 1826 gravestone of
Rev. Rufus Hawley was commissioned for installment in the West Avon Cemetery, paid for with
private funding. Dick Rulon, superintendent of the cemetery, will install the replica (seen below) this
summer and the original one will be placed in the collection of the Avon Historical Society.

The mission of the Avon Historical Society, founded in 1974, is to identify, collect,
preserve, utilize, publish, display and promote the history and heritage of Avon.

2020-2021 Officers and Board of Trustees
Officers: Trustees:

e Terri Wilson, President Mary Harrop
THE AVON Dr. Helaine Bertsch, Vice President Gene Macy
open, Secretary Carolyn McGrattan

HISTORIC AL Eric Throndson, Treasurer Cal Miller-Stevens

Sebastian Saraceno
Heddy Panik
SOCIETY, nc. Heddy Panik

Carol Bradovchak

MEMBERSHIP IS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC. Contact the Society for details.

Do you shop Amazon? If you do, please go to: http://smile.amazon.com
and CHOOSE the Avon Historical Society, Avon, CT to have .5% of your
purchase donated to us! It's simple and free.

PO Box 448, Avon, CT 06001-0448, 860.678.7621 « avonhistoricalsociety.org
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